SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE

Tuesday 9 December 2003 (*Morning*)

Session 2

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 2003. Applications for reproduction should be made in writing to the Licensing Division, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ Fax 01603 723000, which is administering the copyright on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body. Produced and published in Scotland on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body by The Stationery Office Ltd. Her Majesty's Stationery Office is independent of and separate from the company now

trading as The Stationery Office Ltd, which is responsible for printing and publishing Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body publications.

CONTENTS

Tuesday 9 December 2003

	Col.
DELEGATED POWERS SCRUTINY	245
Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Bill: Stage 1	
Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill: as amended at Stage 2	
EXECUTIVE RESPONSES	
Race Relations Act 1976 (Statutory Duties) (Scotland) Amendment Order 2003 (SSI 2003/566)	
Honey (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/569)	252
Registration of Establishments Keeping Laying Hens (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/576)	
Local Government Pension Reserve Fund (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/580)	255
Pupils' Educational Records (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/581)	255
INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO ANNULMENT	256
Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 (Transitional Provisions and Revocation) Order 2003	
(SSI 2003/587)	256
End-of-Life Vehicles (Storage and Treatment) (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/593)	256
INSTRUMENTS NOT SUBJECT TO PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE	257
Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast)	
(Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/589)	257
Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast)	
(No 3) (Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/590)	257
Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (Orkney)	
(No 4) (Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/591)	257
Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast)	
(No 4) (Scotland) Partial Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/592)	257
INSTRUMENTS NOT LAID BEFORE THE PARLIAMENT	258
African Swine Fever (Scotland) Order 2003 (SSI 2003/586)	258
Transport (Scotland) Act 2001 (Commencement No 4) Order 2003 (SSI 2003/588)	

SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE

16th Meeting 2003, Session 2

CONVENER

*Dr Sylvia Jackson (Stirling) (Lab)

DEPUTY CONVENER

Gordon Jackson (Glasgow Govan) (Lab)

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Mr Stew art Maxwell (West of Scotland) (SNP)
*Christine May (Central Fife) (Lab)
*Alasdair Morgan (South of Scotland) (SNP)
*Mike Pringle (Edinburgh South) (LD)
Murray Tosh (West of Scotland) (Con)

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTES

Bruce Crawford (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con) Maureen Macmillan (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

*attended

CLERK TO THE COMMITTEE

Alasdair Rankin

ASSISTANT CLERKS

Joanne Clinton Catherine Fergusson

LOC ATION

Committee Room 3

Scottish Parliament

Subordinate Legislation Committee

Tuesday 9 December 2003

(Morning)

[THE CONV ENER opened the meeting at 10:32]

Delegated Powers Scrutiny

Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Bill: Stage 1

The Convener (Dr Sylvia Jackson): I welcome colleagues to the 16th meeting this session of the Subordinate Legislation Committee. I have received apologies from Stewart Maxwell and Murray Tosh.

The first item is delegated powers scrutiny, and we return to our stage 1 consideration of the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Bill. Members will recall that we sought further information from the Executive on the bill.

Section 12(5) contains the power to make further provision by regulations in connection with the additional support needs tribunals and the president of the additional support needs tribunals for Scotland. The reply from the Executive is perhaps less than helpful in certain respects. We are still faced with the issue of the flexibility with which fine tuning of the tribunals might be undertaken. The bill does not seem to indicate that such changes will necessarily be relatively trivial, incidental or consequential. We must decide whether the general power to make regulations that has been suggested by the Executive is the appropriate one. I seek members' ideas on the matter.

Alasdair Morgan (South of Scotland) (SNP): In its response on section 12(5), the Executive says that it does not wish to burden the Scottish Parliament with primary legislation. Call me an old cynic if you like, but I suspect that that was the least of the Executive's considerations when it drew up the bill. The Executive goes on to mention further legislation on what might be minor, additional provisions. That leaves the door open, in that such future provisions might not be minor or additional; they might be of some substance. Nevertheless, the Executive proposes to give itself the power to go ahead in that way. I do not think that that is satisfactory.

Christine May (Central Fife) (Lab): The Executive does not know what provisions might be covered through the power to make regulations—it effectively says in its letter, "We don't know. If we did, we would have told you." In that case, the bill should be amended to make it perfectly clear that the power will be used only for minor matters—and subordinate or consequential matters, I think, although I cannot remember which two other terms were used. Any changes that are made ought to be open to scrutiny by the Parliament in the most appropriate form. If that is to be done by an open procedure, that is what we should do, but we should use the appropriate terminology to say so.

The committee needs to put down a marker—again—and to say that drafting needs to be as tight as possible. The drafting in the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Bill is so open that it leaves the floor free for ministers or the civil servants who advise them to do anything that they want.

The Convener: Shall we recommend to the lead committee that we would like there to be something in the bill that provided some safety in this regard and which would indicate that changes made through regulations would have to be minor.

Christine May: "Trivial, incidental or consequential" are the words that are used.

The Convener: Are we agreed? Mike?

Mike Pringle (Edinburgh South) (LD): Yes.

The Convener: Is that all that we need to do? Do we need also to add a proviso along the lines of "subject to open affirmative or negative procedures"?

Christine May: I think that we should do both those things.

The Convener: Alasdair Morgan is looking quizzical.

Alasdair Morgan: If the Executive gave way on the first matter—if it restricted what it intended to do through regulations to trivial matters—then the second point would not necessarily apply. I do not think that we would need to get into any other elaborate procedure.

The Convener: I am just worried about interpretation and what would be considered "minor".

Christine May: The Executive says that it does not wish to burden us with legislation, but our primary function as a Parliament is to legislate. I want to say to the Executive, "Burden us, please. That is what we are supposed to do." I do not like to disagree with Alasdair Morgan, but I think that we probably should pursue both matters. Perhaps I am even more cynical than Alasdair, but I have

seen the havoc that can be caused by changes to legislation that have not been properly scrutinised.

The Convener: If negative procedure is to be used, the scrutiny of that is not as great as it might be. Are we agreed that we will send those two suggestions to the lead committee?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Section 17(1) contains the power to make provision by regulations for dispute resolution. We asked for examples of matters that might be included in such regulations. We have a wee bit of a problem in that we have not really been given any examples. One option would be for us to suggest that the first exercise of the power be subject to affirmative procedure, so that we can set the scene, so to speak. Subsequent exercises could be subject to negative procedure. How does the committee feel about that?

Alasdair Morgan: How practical is that? Has such an approach been adopted before?

The Convener: Yes.

Alasdair Morgan: What is to stop the first exercise of the power being on a relatively trivial matter? The second exercise might be more substantial, yet it would be subject only to negative procedure.

The Convener: It is considered difficult to have a trivial matter as the first regulation. However, I take Alasdair Morgan's point. There does not appear to be another procedure. It would not be any better to go for a more open procedure. All we could do is say that all the regulations should be made under the affirmative procedure. However, if they were trivial regulations, that would seem a bit—

Christine May: I have a technical question. How difficult would it be to change from affirmative procedure to negative procedure at a later date? That would be a relatively minor amendment to a piece of legislation, I would have thought. Surely, if Parliament—or the Executive—was able to demonstrate that any regulations made were trivial, we could come back and amend the procedure to make it negative rather than affirmative. I see shaking heads. Would that be very difficult?

Alasdair Morgan: It would require primary legislation.

Christine May: So we cannot do it that way.

Alasdair Morgan: No.

Christine May: For me, the same concerns apply to section 17(1) as apply to section 12(5), which we discussed earlier. The Executive is saying that it has written two lines into the bill and now it can go away and do what it wants. We will

come on to the precedent that has been set in respect of people ignoring the regulations. I am afraid that regulations are ignored if the door is left open for that to happen.

Alasdair Morgan: The Executive is effectively saying that it does not know what it wants to do. It has no definitive model in mind and it wishes to develop its thinking. However, it cannot develop its thinking if it legislates using the negative procedure first, rather than thinking first and then legislating. That is the point of all the consultation procedures that precede primary legislation in the Parliament. We do our consultation first, and then we legislate. The Executive seems to want to do it the other way round.

Mike Pringle: That is a very strange way of going about things. Paragraph 8 of the legal brief says that the Executive

"has yet to clarify its policy thinking on the matter."

That is what Alasdair Morgan is referring to. I find it strange that it has not sorted out the matter beforehand.

The Convener: The only alternative is to express our strong reservations to the lead committee.

Mike Pringle: We should do that.

The Convener: I cannot think of any other measures that we could take. We have been through all the options that we could use and none of them seems satisfactory.

Mike Pringle: Can we ask the lead committee to consider our reservations and then tell us what it is thinking? Can the lead committee come back to us like that?

Christine May: No.

Mike Pringle: We should therefore say that the policy thinking should have been done beforehand and not after the bill was drafted.

The Convener: Yes.

Our legal advice is that we do not have another option. We will write to the lead committee and express our grave reservations about section 17(1).

Christine May: We should recommend that the first regulations should be subject to the affirmative procedure. I share Alasdair Morgan's concern that the first operation might not give a broad enough flavour of the type of regulations that might be necessary. We cannot set a time limit because we do not know when the regulations will come up.

The Convener: I am trying to avoid appearing as if we are settling for the use of the affirmative procedure on the first occasion. I do not think that

that is sufficient, as Christine May seems to be saying. It is therefore important that we stress that we have grave reservations about section 17(1). However, it might help if at least the first exercise of the power is subject to the affirmative procedure.

Mike Pringle: Yes.

The Convener: We should include the words "at least".

Christine May: Can we say that the committee would have preferred that more than one exercise of that power was subject to the affirmative procedure?

The Convener: We can put "at least", apparently.

Mike Pringle: That sounds better.

The Convener: It does not seem as if the consultation has highlighted examples of the type of regulation that might be needed.

Christine May: That is probably partly down to when the consultation took place. If I recall correctly, it took place during the summer.

10:45

The Convener: It could be argued that the section is dealing with a new area and that it is therefore difficult to know what regulations might be required. Equally, I would have thought that consultation would have raised those issues.

Christine May: It is going to be a difficult area for education authorities and other providers to deal with financially, if nothing else. Therefore, we should ensure that the bill is drafted as well as it possibly can be. Other members have pointed out that the thinking should have been done first. There is plenty expertise in the field and advice could and should have been sought.

The Convener: We could suggest that procedure should be affirmative apart from where the regulations could be seen as trivial. We would like the emphasis to be on affirmative procedures. Affirmative procedures should be the norm. Shall we use those words?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: We are going to say to the lead committee that we have grave concerns about section 17(1) because we wonder whether the right consultation has taken place if the Executive cannot come up with examples of the regulations that might be needed. As a result of that, we think that affirmative procedures should be the norm when dealing with those regulations. Are we agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Section 19(4) of the bill deals with the power to set time limits by regulations for the meeting of requests by appropriate agencies, subject to exceptions. We have a response from the Executive, in light of which it is suggested that the negative procedure might be appropriate. Is that agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Section 20(1), which deals with the power to prescribe standards and requirements relating to the conduct of special schools, is more problematic. The issue is to do with the use of non-statutory guidance where the Parliament has no power to scrutinise. Members will recall that, last week, we talked about the case law, which shows that there should be concern about how the section has been drafted.

Alasdair Morgan: The legal advice is quite clear about cases in which guidance, rather than statutory provision, is used. If that approach is written into the bill and there is a legal challenge, those schools will be found to have been acting unlawfully. In light of that, the fact that the Executive has found that the current system operates satisfactorily seems to indicate that there has never been a legal challenge. The Executive has ignored what the committee said and is effectively saying that it has got away with it so far and it is just going to carry on. I suspect that that is not good enough.

Christine May: I think we should draw the lead committee's attention to the House of Lords decision on the use of non-statutory guidance and indicate that the committee was mindful of that when considering the section.

We should also refer to the Executive's reply that regulations might be required in due course. We should use that to make the point that the committee recommends that the use of non-statutory guidance should not feature because of the lack of scrutiny. As I said, we are here to legislate and to consider proposals for legislation; therefore, we should be burdened with that consideration.

The Convener: We are recommending that the lead committee discontinues the use of non-statutory guidance. Is that okay? Mike?

Mike Pringle: Yes, I am happy with that.

The Convener: Section 23 is on codes of practice and directions. We are fairly agreed that codes of practice are good. However, where—as here—they are a substitute for legislation, we have the same problem as we had with section 20(1). We gave the Executive various options, which have not been taken up. How would members like us to proceed?

Alasdair Morgan: The Executive has argued that the method of proceeding that it suggests gives the advantages of speed and flexibility. If we take that to its logical conclusion, totally ignoring Parliament in all circumstances would give the Executive total speed and flexibility, but that would not make it a good thing. We deal regularly with health-related statutory instruments—for example, in respect of amnesic shellfish poisoning—on which the need for speed and flexibility is far greater than it is on this kind of code of practice. We manage to deal with the health-related legislation satisfactorily, so it beggars belief that the Executive thought that we could not do that in this case.

Christine May: Our previous comments on the need for effective scrutiny of ministerial actions by Parliament apply in this case also.

The Convener: We will point out to the lead committee that, although codes of practice are normally good, in this case, as they are a substitute for legislation, they are not. We have suggested options to the Executive that have not been taken up, and we expect the lead committee to consider those. We also think that we do not have the necessary safeguards for parliamentary scrutiny using the approach that the Executive has suggested. That, again, is a grave concern. Is that an adequate summary?

Members indicated agreement.

Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill: as amended at Stage 2

The Convener: Item 2 is delegated powers scrutiny of the Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill as amended at stage 2. A couple of wee points were picked up in the Executive's memorandum, which will be dealt with. Apart from that, our legal advice is that there do not seem to be any particular issues with the amendments. Are we all agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: We will state in our report to the Parliament that the committee is content with the provisions of the bill as they stand.

Executive Responses

Race Relations Act 1976 (Statutory Duties) (Scotland) Amendment Order 2003 (SSI 2003/566)

10:53

The Convener: Item 3 is Executive responses. Members will recall that we raised the issue of the definition of the 2002 order in this order. The Executive has agreed that it was not necessary to provide a definition of the order and that it was not necessary to refer to the 2002 order in article 5(2) and article 6 of this order. On that basis, I suggest that we inform the lead committee and the Parliament that we raised that issue and received that answer. Is that agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

Honey (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/569)

The Convener: We raised with the Executive the lack of a definition of the term "country of origin" in the regulations. Do members want to make any comments on the response?

Alasdair Morgan: Yes. The original complaint that I made was that anyone who picked up and read the regulations would not know the meaning of the phrase "country of origin" in this context. The Executive has said that, in the absence of a definition, the most persuasive interpretation is that it means a member state. That is fine and well, but we are still in a situation in which somebody who is bottling—or jarring, whatever the word is—honey and labelling it does not have the advantage of having that advice in front of them. We should be providing statutory instruments that are clear to the people who have to obey them. The situation is still not satisfactory.

It may be that the fault lies with the original directive or the European procedure that backs the regulations up; however, that does not make it any easier for the poor sod at the end of the chain who has to interpret the legislation and who will probably fall foul of it. I do not think that the situation is satisfactory, although I do not think that there is much that we can do about it.

The second point that I want to make is more a point of policy, and is probably not for this committee. The fact that, if someone makes honey in Scotland, they have to state not only that it is made in Scotland but that it is made in Scotland in the United Kingdom seems a bizarre requirement. If I were a Eurosceptic—which I am not—that would be something else that I could use to

hammer the European Union with. It is unfortunate that this kind of regulation is going through.

The Convener: It is a good job that Murray Tosh is not with us this morning.

I agree with you, to an extent. We can perhaps draw those issues to the attention of the European and External Relations Committee. That might be a way forward. I agree that there is not much more that we can do, but we might at least raise the issue, as clarity is important. Is that agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: It is also suggested that we inform the lead committee and the Parliament that we asked the question; that we did not think that the answer was particularly clear; and that we have brought the matter to the attention of the European and External Relations Committee.

Registration of Establishments Keeping Laying Hens (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/576)

The Convener: There was great debate on the regulations at last week's meeting. We were concerned about how the regulations had been drafted. From the answers that we have received from the Executive, and the committee's legal advice, it seems that we are hardly any further forward. Many of our questions have not been answered, and pages and pages of difficulties remain to be addressed.

We can go through those difficulties step by step if members wish. However, because so many issues have been raised, I suggest that we send them all to the lead committee and the Parliament, identifying our concerns. Members will recall that, last week, our legal adviser was concerned that we might not even have picked up all the points—the drafting was so disastrous. Do members think that there is anything else that we can do?

Alasdair Morgan: As the committee's legal advice is not in the public domain we should perhaps say for the *Official Report* that one point of doubt is whether the regulations are intra vires, while another is whether they raise a devolution issue. There are also six cases of defective drafting and six cases of unusual or unexpected use of the powers in the regulations. That is pretty good for starters.

The Convener: It is.

Christine May: Alasdair Morgan made the point that somebody could fall foul of the Honey (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/569). I think that everybody is going to fall foul of these regulations.

Mike Pringle: Was that meant to be a pun?

Christine May: Of course it was meant to be a pun. Gee—well spotted!

Last week we talked about the person who had originally made the application for registration having to apply to amend it. We asked—very sensibly—what would happen if that person was dead. The Executive has accepted that we had a point. If the person is dead, they cannot make that application; their representative can make it for them.

Nonetheless, the regulations are late, defective in the ways that Alasdair Morgan pointed out and potentially defective in other ways that might be picked up if we spent an awful lot of time on them. If the regulations have to go back to the Executive to be redrafted properly, they are going to be even later. Would that be preferable to having an omelette like this implemented?

11:00

The Convener: The regulations certainly are bad. One of the issues that I thought Gordon Jackson might have brought up, had he been here, related to our 10th question, which was on fines. The information that we have received from the Executive does not clarify the issue at all. As Alasdair Morgan said, however, the matter is covered under recommendation (c) in our brief, on defective drafting. We have covered most of the substantive points on the regulations, but it is worrying that there are so many of them. I think that we ought to express concern about the regulations to the lead committee and the Parliament, because they are so bad.

Christine May: I would be concerned that the regulations are unenforceable in their current form, in which case there is little point in their going on to the statute book—or whatever it is called.

The Convener: I agree that those are the type of words that we should use. We should say that the regulations as we see them, judging from our legal advice, are unenforceable, and that they raise a devolution issue. Is that agreed?

Christine May: We should say that the regulations are unenforceable as currently drafted.

The Convener: Yes.

Christine May: I presume that, ideally, we want somebody to go back and do them again.

The Convener: Exactly. When we hold our informal meeting with the Executive, we might wish to raise some specific examples. We have had one or two.

Local Government Pension Reserve Fund (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/580)

The Convener: The Executive has acknowledged that there was a failure to follow proper drafting practice in the regulations. We asked the Executive why it thought it necessary to include a definition of "local authority", given that the term is defined in both enabling powers in the same terms as in the regulations. Are there any further points?

Members: No.

Pupils' Educational Records (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/581)

The Convener: There are quite a few issues that we need to draw to the attention of the lead committee and the Parliament. There was some defective drafting, which was acknowledged in response to the first point that we raised, which related to regulations 5(1) and 5(2). Our second and fifth points raised doubt as to whether the regulations are intra vires. Our third and fourth points raised further matters of defective drafting. Our third point was also on a matter of unusual or unexpected use of powers. Our sixth and seventh points highlighted a failure to follow proper legislative practice and our sixth point also raised what may be an unusual or unexpected use of a power. In other words, we had quite a few points to raise

Our legal advice raises quite a bit of case law, including the case of McCarthy & Stone (Developments) Ltd v Richmond-upon-Thames Borough Council. That really ought to have been taken on board. Is it agreed that we raise the issues that I have outlined? Do members wish to add any further points?

Christine May: I do not have any additional points to raise, but can we ensure that the case law on which our decisions have at least partly been based is brought to the attention of the lead committee?

The Convener: Yes. Is that okay? Members indicated agreement.

Instruments Subject to Annulment

Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 (Transitional Provisions and Revocation) Order 2003 (SSI 2003/587)

11:03

The Convener: No points have been noted by the legal advisers.

End-of-Life Vehicles (Storage and Treatment) (Scotland) Regulations 2003 (SSI 2003/593)

The Convener: The memorandum accompanying the equivalent English regulations was very useful. However, we have a number of recommendations concerning the regulations. First, there is the matter of late implementation.

Secondly, we think that there is an issue about the number of vehicles that have been mentioned. Regulation 7(4)(e)(i)(bb) omits the 400 vehicles that are mentioned in paragraph 45 in table 4B of schedule 3 to the Waste Management Licensing Regulations 1994 (SI 1994/1056). In the version of table 4B that is available to the committee, there is no reference to 400 vehicles, but there are references to 100 vehicles and 1000 vehicles. Is it agreed that we check with the Executive what has happened there?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Is there anything else to raise on the regulations?

Christine May: The memorandum from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs states that the fees are payable to the Environment Agency. Has anyone read the regulations closely enough to say whether that has been changed so that fees are payable to the Scottish Environment Protection Agency?

The Convener: Yes they are. Christine May: That is fine.

Instruments Not Subject to Parliamentary Procedure

Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast) (Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/589)

Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast) (No 3) (Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/590)

Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (Orkney) (No 4) (Scotland) Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/591)

Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) (Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) (East Coast) (No 4) (Scotland) Partial Revocation Order 2003 (SSI 2003/592)

11:05

The Convener: No points arise on the orders.

Instruments Not Laid Before the Parliament

African Swine Fever (Scotland) Order 2003 (SSI 2003/586)

11:06

The Convener: Late implementation of the order is an issue, but there are no other substantive points to raise.

The Executive explained that because of the aftermath of the foot-and-mouth epidemic, it was not possible to implement the order by the implementation date. Does anyone have any points to make?

Christine May: That might be an acceptable reason, but the precedent is that the committee reports such lateness. Do you not think that we should?

The Convener: Not unless you want to.

Christine May: No. We would be being horrid.

The Convener: No substantive points arise on the order.

Transport (Scotland) Act 2001 (Commencement No 4) Order 2003 (SSI 2003/588)

The Convener: A minor point has been noted in the explanatory note, but apart from that no substantive points arise.

I thank the committee for its patience and for doing a lot of reading in connection with some of the instruments.

Meeting closed at 11:07.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Report to be forwarded to them should give notice at the Document Supply Centre.

No proofs of the Official Report can be supplied. Members who want to suggest corrections for the archive edition should mark them clearly in the daily edition, and send it to the Official Report, 375 High Street, Edinburgh EH99 1SP. Suggested corrections in any other form cannot be accepted.

The deadline for corrections to this edition is:

Wednesday 17 December 2003

Members who want reprints of their speeches (within one month of the date of publication) may obtain request forms and further details from the Central Distribution Office, the Document Supply Centre or the Official Report.

PRICES AND SUBSCRIPTION RATES

DAILY EDITIONS

Single copies: £5

Meetings of the Parliament annual subscriptions: £350.00

The archive edition of the Official Report of meetings of the Parliament, written answers and public meetings of committees will be published on CD-ROM.

WHAT'S HAPPENING IN THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT, compiled by the Scottish Parliament Information Centre, contains details of past and forthcoming business and of the work of committees and gives general information on legislation and other parliamentary activity.

Single copies: £3.75 Special issue price: £5 Annual subscriptions: £150.00

WRITTEN ANSWERS TO PARLIAMENTARY QUESTIONS weekly compilation

Single copies: £3.75

Annual subscriptions: £150.00

Standing orders will be accepted at the Document Supply Centre.

Published in Edinburgh by The Stationery Office Limited and available from:

The Stationery Office Bookshop 71 Lothian Road Edinburgh EH3 9AZ 0870 606 5566 Fax 0870 606 5588

The Stationery Office Bookshops at: 123 Kingsway, London WC2B 6PQ Tel 020 7242 6393 Fax 020 7242 6394 68-69 Bull Street, Bir mingham B4 6AD Tel 0121 236 9696 Fax 0121 236 9699 33 Wine Street, Bristol BS1 2BQ Tel 01179 264306 Fax 01179 294515 9-21 Princess Street, Manchester M60 8AS Tel 0161 834 7201 Fax 0161 833 0634 16 Arthur Street, Belfast BT1 4GD Tel 028 9023 8451 Fax 028 9023 5401 The Stationery Office Oriel Bookshop, 18-19 High Street, Cardiff CF12BZ Tel 029 2039 5548 Fax 029 2038 4347

The Stationery Office Scottish Parliament Documentation Helpline may be able to assist with additional information on publications of or about the Scottish Parliament, their availability and cost:

Telephone orders and inquiries 0870 606 5566

Fax orders 0870 606 5588

The Scottish Parliament Shop George IV Bridge **EH99 1SP** Telephone orders 0131 348 5412

RNID Typetalk calls welcome on 18001 0131 348 5412 Textphone 0131 348 3415

sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk

www.scottish.parliament.uk

Accredited Agents (see Yellow Pages)

and through good booksellers